August 18, 2010
EN-10-035

OFFICE OF ENFORCEMENT
NOTIFICATION OF SIGNIFICANT ENFORCEMENT ACTION

Licensee: Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) EA-10-081
Docket No.: 03034325

Subject: NOTICE OF VIOLATION AND PROPOSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL PENALTY -
$39,000

This is to inform the Commission that a Notice of Violation (Notice) and Proposed Imposition of
a Civil Penalty in the amount of $39,000 will be issued on or about August 23, 2010, to the
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), a master materials licensee, for numerous violations
identified at several VA facilities as a result of follow up inspections to assess the extent of
condition associated with the medical events which occurred at the Philadelphia Veterans
Affairs Medical Center (EA-09-038). The Notice of Violation contains:

* A Severity Level Ill violation of 10 CFR 35.41(a)(2) and 10 CFR 35.41(b)(2) where on
various dates specified, the licensee’s procedures at the following facilities either did not
address verifying the administration was in accordance with the written directive or the
licensee did not implement the procedure to verify the administration at: (i) the VA Sierra
Nevada Health Care System, Reno, Nevada, between September 29, 2005 and October
12, 2008; (ii) the G.V. (Sonny) Montgomery VA Medical Center, Jackson, Mississippi,
between May 2007 and February 2008; and, (iii) the VA Boston Healthcare System,
Boston, Massachusetts, on September 27, 2005. This violation is separated into two
parts to address those violations within the Statute of Limitations described above, which
are assessed a civil penalty, and those for which the Statute of Limitations had already
expired at the Boston Healthcare System for treatments on February 1, March 22, April
26 and May 3, 2005, which are not assessed a civil penalty.

* A Severity Level Il violation of 10 CFR 35.3045(c) at the VA New York Harbor
Healthcare System, Brooklyn, New York, where on October 10, 2008, the licensee had
sufficient information, based on the data generated by the patient’s post-treatment plan,
to make a determination that the dose to the treatment site during a permanent prostate
implant was not in accordance with the authorized user’s written directive, however, the
licensee notified the NRC Operations Center of the medical event on November 18,
2008, which was not within one calendar day as required.

* Two Severity Level IV violations are also cited regarding (i) a written event report on
December 1, 2008, at the VA New York Harbor Healthcare System in Brooklyn, New
York, that did not provide sufficient detail, such as why the event occurred and what
actions were taken or planned to prevent recurrence, and (ii) written directives for four
brachytherapy treatments on December 11, 2007, at the VA Sierra Nevada Healthcare
System in Reno, Nevada, that failed to specify the radionuclide, the treatment site, the
number of sources and the total source strength, or the total dose.

A predecisional enforcement conference was held on June 30, 2010, at the NRC Region Ill



office, during which the VA disagreed with some of the NRC’s preliminary violations and
concerns. The VA provided additional information by letter dated July 15, 2010, regarding the
validity of the violations. This information was considered and is reflected in the final Notice of
Violation. However, the NRC remained concerned about the oversight performance of the
National Health Physics Program (NHPP) and the National Radiation Safety Committee
(NRSC). After this Enforcement Action is issued, the staff intends to meet with the VA to
communicate NRC’s concerns.

Since the VA has been the subject of escalated enforcement action within the last two years,’
the staff considered whether credit was warranted for Identification and Corrective Action in
accordance with the civil penalty assessment process in Section VI.C.2 of the Enforcement
Policy. The NRC determined that credit would not be warranted for Identification in that the
NRC identified these violations after the National Health Physics Program (NHPP) performed
inspections without identifying the issues. Credit would be warranted for Corrective Action
based on the corrective actions described during the June 30, 2010, Predecisional Enforcement
Conference and in a July 15, 2010, letter from the VA. Normally, a base civil penalty of $6500
for each Severity Level Il violation would be considered since no credit for Identification was
warranted. However, based on the VA’s particularly poor performance in identifying issues
similar to those previously identified at the Philadelphia VA Medical Center and at other
hospitals, and based on the lack of effective assessment by the NHPP and the National
Radiation Safety Committee (NRSC) of shortcomings in their own processes under the MML,
the NRC is exercising its authority, under Section VII.A.1.c. of the Enforcement Policy, to use
discretion to escalate the civil penalty to $19,500 for each Severity Level Il violation for a civil
penalty in the total amount of $39,000. Escalation of the civil penalty is necessary to
underscore that the VA, as a whole, must improve not only the performance of individual VA
facilities, but also the performance of the NHPP and the NRSC in implementing their regulatory
oversight responsibilities under the MML.

It should be noted that the licensee has not been specifically informed of the enforcement
action. The schedule of issuance and notification is:

Mailing of Notice August 23, 2010
Telephone Notification of Licensee August 23, 2010

The States of Mississippi, Nevada, and New York and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts will
be notified.

The licensee has thirty days from the date of the Notice in which to respond. Following NRC
evaluation of the response, the civil penalty may be remitted, mitigated, or imposed by Order.

Contacts: Susanne Woods, OE, 415-2740; Nick Hilton, OE, 415-3055

' The NRC issued three SLIIs and three SL llIs with a proposed civil penalty of $227,500 on March 17,
2010, to the VA based on activities associated with brachytherapy at the Philadelphia Veterans Affairs
Medical Center (EA-09-038). The licensee paid the civil penalty on April 13, 2010. Also, the NRC
issued a SL Ill violation with proposed civil penalty of $6500 on April 10, 2009, to the VA based on
activities at the lowa City Medical Center (EA-08-353). The NRC imposed the civil penalty in an Order
dated August 14, 2009. The licensee paid the civil penalty on August 28, 2009.
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